Western Australia

# **Chiropractors Registration Board Rules 1966**

Reprinted as at 10 November 2000

Reprinted under the *Reprints Act 1984* as at 10 November 2000

Western Australia

## **Chiropractors Registration Board Rules 1966**

#### CONTENTS

1.	Citation	1
2.	Interpretation	1
3.	Notice of meeting	1
4.	Order of business	2
4A.	Remuneration of members	23
5.	Registrar, term of office, duties	3
6.	Entries in register	3
7.	Prescribed qualifications	5
8.	Registration	5
9.	Application to be considered by Board	6
10.	Licence to practise	8
10A.	Advertising	8
10B.	Content of plate	9
10C.	Title of chiropractor	10
11.	Complaints	12
12.	Holding of inquiry	12
13.	Hearing of complaint	13
14.	Penalties	14
15.	False statement	14
16.	Common seal, custody and care	15

### Appendix A

#### Appendix B

Notes

page i



Western Australia

Reprinted under the *Reprints Act 1984* as at 10 November 2000

Chiropractors Act 1964

### **Chiropractors Registration Board Rules 1966**

#### 1. Citation

These rules may be cited as the *Chiropractors Registration Board Rules* 1966<sup>1</sup>.

#### 2. Interpretation

In these rules unless the contrary intention appears — **"member"** means a member of the Board; **"meeting"** means a meeting of the Board; **"the Act"** means the *Chiropractors Act 1964*.

#### 3. Notice of meeting

- (1) The registrar shall, where the time appointed for the holding of a meeting so permits, cause notice in writing of the holding of any meeting of the Board to be posted to each member at least 7 days before the time so appointed.
- (2) Any notice posted by the registrar in pursuance of subrule (1) shall briefly indicate the business of the proposed meeting.

#### 4. Order of business

(1) Unless the Board otherwise resolves, the order of business at any meeting shall be —

Reading of the minutes of the previous meeting.

Confirmation of the minutes of the previous meeting.

Applications for registration under the Act.

Correspondence.

Presentation and consideration of financial statement.

Accounts for payment.

Registrar's report.

General business.

- (2) A motion proposed at any meeting shall not be debated or decided upon unless it has been seconded.
- (3) A motion to rescind any resolution, act, matter or thing done or authorised at a previous meeting shall not be rescinded at a meeting unless notice of that motion has been given to the registrar and notice that the motion is intended to be moved is contained in the notice of the meeting posted to members in pursuance of rule 3.
- (4) Where after the expiration of 15 minutes from the time appointed for the commencement of any meeting a quorum is not, and has not during that period, been present, the meeting and the business set down for that meeting shall stand adjourned to the next meeting.

#### 4A. Remuneration of members

For the purposes of section 14 of the Act the following rates of remuneration are prescribed —

(a) for the chairman of the Board, \$400 per day or \$263 per half day; and

(b) for each other member of the Board, \$131 per day or \$86 per half day.

[Rule 4A inserted in Gazette 24 November 1998 p.6314.]

#### 5. Registrar, term of office, duties

- (1) A registrar appointed by the Board shall hold office during the pleasure of the Board.
- (2) The registrar shall, in addition to performing the duties imposed on him by the Act and these rules —
  - (a) be in attendance at his office during usual business hours;
  - (b) be responsible for the safe custody of all documents and property belonging to the Board;
  - (c) present at every meeting a statement of the financial transactions of the Board since the presentation of the previous statement;
  - (d) present a balance sheet of the affairs of the Board up to and including 30 June in each year within 3 months of the end of each financial year;
  - (e) receive and deposit with the Bank nominated by the Board at such intervals as the Board shall direct, all moneys received by him on behalf of the Board; and
  - (f) discharge such other duties as the Board may from time to time direct.

#### 6. Entries in register

- (1) The registrar shall enter in the register in respect of each person whose name is ordered to be entered in the register
  - (a) his name;
  - (b) the date and place of birth and the sex of that person;
  - (c) his residential and professional address;

- (d) where the person is registered in pursuance of section 20(1) of the Act, a notation to that effect together with the qualifications that entitle him to be so registered;
- (e) where the person is registered in pursuance of section 20(2) of the Act, the date and place at which he first commenced to practise the calling of a chiropractor and the date and place at which he first commenced to so practise in the State; and
- (f) the date on which he is registered as a chiropractor under the Act.
- (2) Where
  - (a) a chiropractor dies;
  - (aa) fails to pay the annual licence fee referred to in rule 10(2); or
  - (b) upon the hearing of a complaint against a chiropractor the Board orders the removal of his name from the register,

the registrar shall make an appropriate entry in the register indicating the date of and the reason for the removal of the name from the register.

- (3) The Board may direct the registrar to make such entries in the register as are necessary for the purpose of making the register a true and accurate record of the names and other details of persons registered under the Act.
- (4) No entry in or alteration to the register shall be made except by the registrar acting in pursuance of these rules or a direction in writing of the Board.

- (5) Any person may inspect the register between the hours of 10.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m. on any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a public holiday.
- (6) A person may, on payment of the fee prescribed in Appendix A, obtain a copy of the register.

[Rule 6 amended in Gazette 7 January 2000 p.26.]

#### 7. **Prescribed qualifications**

For the purposes of section 20(1) of the Act, the prescribed qualifications are —

- (a) the successful completion of the full course of chiropractic at, and the holding of a degree from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology; or
- (b) the successful completion of the full course of chiropractic at, and the holding of a final degree, final diploma or final certificate of, a School or College of Chiropractic of which the curriculum is not less extensive and the standard of instruction not less high and the standard for the passing of examinations for the diploma, degree or certificate is not less high than that of the college referred to in paragraph (a).

[*Rule 7 amended in Gazette 6 June 1980 p.1669; 7 January 2000 p.26.*]

#### 8. Registration

- (1) A person applying for registration as a chiropractor in pursuance of section 20(1) of the Act shall
  - (a) apply in the form of Form 1 in Appendix B;
  - (b) pay the fee prescribed in Appendix A; and
  - (c) produce evidence that
    - (i) he has attained the age of 21 years;
    - (ii) he is of good character;



		(iii)	he holds any of the qualifications prescribed in rule $7(a)$ and (b); and
		(iv)	he has a standard of education equal to the matriculation level that is required by the University of Western Australia, if so required by the Board.
(2)	-		lying for registration as a chiropractor in pursuance (2) of the Act shall —
	(a)	apply	in the form of Form 2 in Appendix B;
	(b)	pay th	e fee prescribed in Appendix A; and
	(c)	-	ce evidence that he has fulfilled the requirements paragraphs (i) and (ii) of that subsection.
(3)			ses of considering an application for registration as rs the Board may require the applicant —
	(a)	evider referre may b	a meeting and there produce such further nee as the Board may require of any matter ed to in section $20(1)$ or (2) of the Act, as the case be, and answer any relevant question asked by any per; and
	(b)	correc	ke a declaration in writing as to the validity or etness of any form, other document or statement red, lodged or made in support of his application.
	-		um in Gazette 26 July 1966 p.2082; amended in ovember 1973 p.4221.]
9.	Appli	cation (	to be considered by Board

 An application for registration as a chiropractor shall be considered by a meeting of the Board and, if at that meeting, or at any subsequent meeting at which the application is considered, a majority of members present are of opinion that the applicant is, by virtue of the provisions of section 20(1) or (2) of the Act, entitled to be registered, it shall by resolution order that the applicant's name be entered in the register.

1	•	a
	•	J

- (a) by telephone, audio visual or other electronic means; or
- (b) by the circulation of papers and the passing of a resolution in writing approved by a majority of the members of the Board,

and any person who takes part in a meeting so held or approves a resolution so circulated is, for the purposes of that subclause, deemed to have been present at the meeting.

- (2) Where the Board is of opinion that an applicant is not entitled to be registered it shall, before proceeding to resolve to that effect, advise the applicant in writing that
  - (a) he is, in the opinion of the Board, not entitled to be registered as a chiropractor; and
  - (b) he may, within 7 days of receiving the Board's advice, advise the Board by notice in writing that he wishes to appear before the Board to show cause why he ought to be registered.
- (3) Where an applicant furnishes the Board with a notice referred to in subrule (2)(b), the Board shall
  - (a) advise him of the time and place at which he may appear before the Board;
  - (b) permit the applicant to attend before it and be heard on the question of his entitlement to be registered as a chiropractor; and
  - (c) upon hearing the applicant, resolve that his name be entered in the register, or that his application be refused, as the case may be.

page 7

- (4) Where an applicant fails to furnish the Board with the notice referred to in subrule (2)(b) or fails to attend before it at the time and place referred to in subrule (3)(a), the Board may resolve that the application be refused.
- (5) Where the Board resolves that an application be refused, it shall incorporate in the resolution the reasons for the refusal and shall cause the registrar to advise the applicant in writing of the terms of the resolution.
- (6) A chiropractor may, upon payment of the fee prescribed in Appendix A, obtain from the registrar a certificate of registration in the form of Form 3 in Appendix B.

[Rule 9 amended in Gazette 7 January 2000 p.26.]

#### 10. Licence to practise

- (1) A chiropractor may, upon application to the Board in the form of Form 4 in Appendix B and upon payment of the fee prescribed in Appendix A, be issued with a licence to practise chiropractic in the form of Form 5.
- (2) A licence to practise chiropractic shall expire on 30 June next following the day of issue and may be renewed upon payment of the fee prescribed in Appendix A.

#### 10A. Advertising

- (1) A chiropractor shall not cause or permit any advertisement to be published relating to his profession or the practice thereof, other than beyond an announcement of change of address, commencement or resumption of practice.
- (2) Every advertisement by a chiropractor shall be continuous without spacing or display and shall be in the type not larger than that used for the regular articles of the newspaper in which the advertisement is inserted and no more space shall be given to the advertisement than that required for its printing.

(3) Advertisements shall not contain any information other than the following: —

A.B. (qualifications approved by Board) has commenced practice as a Chiropractor at
Phone — Hours ; or
A.B. (qualifications approved by Board), Chiropractor, has
changed his address from
toPhone — Hours ; or
A.B. (qualifications approved by Board), Chiropractor, has
resumed practice atPhone — Hours.
The words "in partnership with" or
"as assistant to" or "in association
with" may be added where appropriate.

- (4) The number of insertions of any advertisement which may be inserted pursuant to this regulation shall not exceed the following unless the Board otherwise approves
  - (a) commencement of practice 20 insertions;
  - (b) change of address 10 insertions;
  - (c) resumption of practice after an absence therefrom of not less than 4 weeks 6 insertions.
- (5) Where a chiropractor changes his address from one place to another in the same town, no more than one such change of address shall be advertised in any one year without permission of the Board, and there shall not be more than 10 insertions of any such advertisement.

[Rule 10A inserted in Gazette 12 November 1968 p.3332.]

#### **10B.** Content of plate

(1) A chiropractor may exhibit at the place at which he carries on his profession, plates bearing only his name, the word "Chiropractor", his approved qualifications, any registered business name and his

	hours of attendance. He may also exhibit such notice boards or illuminated signs as the Board may approve.
(2)	Where the sign is exhibited on the ground floor level of any premises, the letters and figures shall not exceed 100 millimetres in size, and when exhibited upon floors above the ground floor level shall not exceed 150 millimetres in size.
(3)	A chiropractor shall not use any descriptive advertising other than that permitted by subrules (1) and (2).
(4)	A chiropractor shall not cause or permit his name and address and telephone number to appear in a telephone directory except in ordinary type.
(5)	Stationery used by a chiropractor shall not contain any headings other than —
	(a) the name of the chiropractor or chiropractors;

- (b) Registered Business Name;
- "Chiropractor"; (c)
- Qualifications approved by the Board; (d)
- (e) Place of practice;
- Hours of practise and telephone number. (f)
- Except as provided in these rules a chiropractor shall not be a (6) party to any other form of advertisement or display relating to his profession as a chiropractor without the permission of the Board.

[Rule 10B inserted in Gazette 12 November 1968 pp.3332-3; amended in Gazette 21 June 1974 p.2045.]

#### **10C. Title of chiropractor**

- (1)A chiropractor shall not describe himself by
  - the title "Doctor" or use any abbreviation of that title (a) unless it is used in conjunction with the word "chiropractor" or "chiropractic"; or

page 10

#### r. 10C

- (2) A chiropractor shall not
  - (a) tout or canvass for patients;
  - (b) pay, or offer to pay, commission for the introduction of new patients;
  - (c) practise, or offer to practise, for donations in lieu of fees;
  - (d) depart from his scale of fees and charges except bona fide necessitous cases.
- (3) Except with the written consent of the Board and subject to any conditions imposed by the Board a chiropractor shall not
  - (a) publish or distribute any information or literature concerning chiropractic;
  - (b) take part in any radio or television programme concerning chiropractic.
- [(4) repealed]
- (5) A chiropractor shall not give a certificate that is false, misleading or improper.
- (6) Modesty of patients must be respected at all times. Where it is necessary for female patients to undress, facilities must be provided for this to be done in private. Gowns opening down the back must be used for female patients if it is necessary for any clothing to be removed.

[Rule 10C inserted in Gazette 12 November 1968 p.3333; amended in Gazette 7 January 2000 p.26.]

#### 11. Complaints

- A complaint, or allegation of misconduct, against a chiropractor may be made by any person or by the Board upon its own motion.
- (2) A person making a complaint or allegation against a chiropractor shall furnish the Board with a statement in writing setting out the grounds of complaint and the matters alleged.
- (3) The Board shall consider any complaint or allegation made by a person pursuant to this rule and shall, where it is of opinion that the complaint or allegation is of so serious a nature as to require an answer, cause to be sent to the chiropractor by prepaid registered post
  - (a) a notice of the making of the complaint or allegation;
  - (b) a copy of the statement furnished pursuant to subrule (2); and
  - (c) a notice signed by the registrar advising the chiropractor that he may within 14 days furnish to the Board an answer in writing to the complaint or allegation.
- (4) Where the complaint or allegation is made by the Board upon its own motion, the Board shall cause to be sent to the chiropractor by prepaid registered post
  - (a) a notice of the making of the complaint or allegation;
  - (b) a statement of the grounds of complaint and the matters alleged; and
  - (c) a notice signed by the registrar advising the chiropractor that he may within 14 days furnish to the Board an answer in writing to the complaint or allegation.

#### 12. Holding of inquiry

(1) Where the Board, after considering the answer of a chiropractor furnished pursuant to rule 11, decides that an inquiry is warranted or where the chiropractor does not, within the time

limited, furnish such an answer, the Board shall fix such a day and time for the holding of an inquiry into the complaint or allegation as will permit the registrar to comply with the provisions of subrule (2).

- (2) The registrar shall, not less than 14 days before the day fixed for the holding of an inquiry, cause a notice in the form of Form 6 in Appendix B of the holding of the inquiry to be served upon the chiropractor or posted by prepaid registered post to him at his address in the register.
- (3) Where the complaint or allegation was made by a person, the registrar shall, not less than 14 days before the day fixed for the holding of an inquiry
  - (a) cause notice in the form of Form 6 in Appendix B of the holding of the inquiry to be sent by prepaid registered post to that person; and
  - (b) where the chiropractor has furnished an answer pursuant to rule 11, enclose with that notice a copy of the answer so furnished.

#### 13. Hearing of complaint

- (1) Subject to this rule, the Board may, at the time and place and on the day appointed pursuant to rule 12, proceed to hear and determine the complaint or allegation and may, upon giving notice to the parties concerned, adjourn the holding of the inquiry as it sees fit.
- (2) At an inquiry conducted into a complaint or allegation against a chiropractor, the Board shall permit the chiropractor or his solicitor and the person who made the complaint or allegation or his solicitor to attend and be heard, but may, if it is satisfied that the provisions of rule 12(2) and (3) have been complied with, proceed to hear and determine the complaint or allegation in the absence of the chiropractor or the person who made the complaint or allegation or both of those persons.

page 13

#### r. 14

(3) The Board may if it thinks fit, and shall if the chiropractor so desires, permit members of the public to attend any inquiry into a complaint or allegation against a chiropractor.

#### 14. Penalties

- (1) Where, after holding an inquiry in pursuance of these rules, the Board is satisfied that a chiropractor is guilty of misconduct to the prejudice of other persons registered under the Act, it may —
  - (a) reprimand the chiropractor;
  - (b) order that his licence to practise chiropractic be suspended for such period as it thinks fit;
  - (c) order that his name be removed from the register; or
  - (d) order the chiropractor to pay a penalty not exceeding \$5 000,

and shall furnish in writing to the chiropractor the reasons for its decision.

(2) The provisions of section 11(2), (3) and (4) of the Act apply in relation to an inquiry held pursuant to these rules as if that inquiry were a meeting of the Board.

[Rule 14 amended in Gazette 7 January 2000 p.27.]

#### 15. False statement

Any person who ----

- (a) in the course of applying for registration as a chiropractor;
- (b) in a complaint or allegation of misconduct against a chiropractor made to the Board;
- (c) in an answer to such a complaint furnished to the Board;
- (d) before the Board in the course of an inquiry into a complaint or allegation of misconduct against a chiropractor,

knowingly makes a false statement commits an offence.

#### 16. Common seal, custody and care

The common seal of the Board shall —

- (a) be kept in the custody of the registrar at the office of the Board;
- (b) be affixed only to documents that are signed by the Chairman of the Board or his deputy and the registrar;
- (c) be affixed only to documents to which the Board has authorised the seal to be affixed; and
- (d) be affixed only by the registrar in the presence of the Chairman or his deputy.

#### Appendix A

### Appendix A

#### Fees

	\$
For a copy of the register	20.00
For application to be registered as a chiropractor	100.00
For the issue of a certificate of registration as a chiropractor	30.00
For the issue of a licence to practise chiropractic if the licence is issued during the period from July to December	375.00
For the issue of a licence to practise chiropractic if the licence is issued during the period from January to June .	187.50
For the issue of a licence to practice chiropractic where the chiropractor does not practice solely in the State For the renewal of a licence to practise chiropractic	100.00 375.00

[Appendix A inserted in Gazette 7 January 2000 p.27; amended in Gazette 18 August 2000 p.4767.]

#### Appendix B

### Appendix **B**

#### Form 1

Chiropractors Registration Board

### APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION

	(sex)
of	, apply to be registered a
	(residential address)
-	ctor under section 20(1) of the <i>Chiropractors Act 1964</i> , and in support of my n I declare: —
(1)	that the qualifications by which I claim to be registered are:
(2)	that I have never at any time been convicted of any felony, crime or misdemeanour, nor have I at any time in any country been found guilty o misconduct in a professional respect;
(3)	that I am not disqualified from practising as a chiropractor in the country or State in which the qualifications were obtained;
(4)	that I have attained the age of 21 years.
f my app	ication is granted, I propose to practise at
Da	ted this, 20
	(Signature of Applicant).

#### Appendix B

Note: This application must be accompanied by —

- (i) proof that the applicant has attained the age of 21 years;
- (ii) a signed statement of the academic standard attained by the applicant and of any special qualifications held by him, supported by copies of degrees, certificates or diplomas;
- (iii) 2 character references by persons both of whom have known the applicant for not less than 2 years.
- PENALTY for making a false statement in the above form or in any statement submitted therewith —

A fine not exceeding \$100.

#### Form 2

Chiropractors Registration Board

#### **APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION**

I,		(sex)
of		(30X), and of
		(residential address)
		, apply to be
		(professional address)
-		a chiropractor under section 20(2) of the <i>Chiropractors Act 1964</i> , and in y application I declare: —
	(1)	that I have for 5 years at least practised the calling of a chiropractor (the last 2 years of which were in Western Australia) and have during that period described myself as
	(2)	that the attached statement signed by me is a true and full record of every time during which, and every place at which, I have practised as a chiropractor;
	(3)	that I have not been convicted of any felony, crime or misdemeanour, nor have I at any time in any country been found guilty of misconduct in a professional respect.
	Dated	this, 20
		(Signature of Applicant).
Note:	This	s Application must be accompanied by —
	(i)	A signed statement of the matters referred to in paragraph (2) above.
	(ii)	A signed statement of the academic standard attained by the applicant and of any special qualifications held by him, supported by copies of degrees, certificates or diplomas.
PENA		or making a false statement in the above form or in any statement nitted therewith —
A fine not exceeding \$100.		

Appendix B

#### Form 3

Chiropractors Registration Board

#### **CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION**

Dated this ....., 20 ......

\_\_\_\_\_

Registrar.

#### Form 4

Chiropractors Registration Board

#### **APPLICATION FOR LICENCE**

Date .....

#### Appendix B

#### Form 5

#### Chiropractors Registration Board

#### LICENCE

is hereby licensed by the Chiropractors Registration Board to practise chiropractic for the period ending 30 June 20 .....

Registrar.

#### Form 6

#### CHIROPRACTORS REGISTRATION BOARD

То:
of:—
TAKE notice that the Chiropractors Registration Board will, on
the day of 20,
at o'clock in the noon, at
conduct an inquiry into a complaint or allegation made against
of,
a person registered as a chiropractor under the Chiropractors Act 1964.
Dated this, 20
Registrar.

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> This reprint is a compilation as at 10 November 2000 of the *Chiropractors Registration Board Rules 1966* and includes the amendments referred to in the following Table.

**Table of Rules** 

Citation	Gazettal	Commencement	Miscellaneous
Chiropractors Registration Board Rules 1966	9 May 1966 pp.1166-73 (Erratum 26 July 1966 p.2082)	9 May 1966	
	12 November 1968 pp.3332-3	12 November 1968	
	16 November 1973 pp.4220-1	16 November 1973	
<i>Metric Conversion Act</i> <i>Notice</i> under section 6	21 June 1974 p.2045	21 June 1974	
	3 October 1975 pp.3772-3	3 October 1975	
	19 October 1979 p.3266	19 October 1979	
	6 June 1980 p.1669	6 June 1980	
Chiropractors Registration Board Amendment Rules 1982	25 June 1982 p.2097	1 July 1982 (see rule 2)	
Chiropractors Registration Board Amendment Rules 1993	20 August 1993 p.4494	20 August 1993	
Chiropractors Registration Board Amendment Rules 1998	24 November 1998 pp.6314-15	24 November 1998	
Chiropractors Registration Board Amendment Rules 1999	7 January 2000 pp.25-7	7 January 2000	
Chiropractors Registration Board Amendment Rules 2000	18 August 2000 pp.4766-7	18 August 2000	

By Authority: JOHN A. STRIJK, Government Printer